THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Panel

---

Appellate Case No.: 2015-002041

---

**RECEIVED**  
DEC 01 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

Mortesha Mouzon-Johnson, Claimant,

Appellant,

v.

Mead Westvaco, Self-Insured Employer,

Respondent.

---

**AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Andrea C. Roche  
SC Bar #7563  
[aroche@mickleandbass.com](mailto:aroche@mickleandbass.com)  
Derrick L. Williams  
SC Bar #70192  
[dwilliams@mickleandbass.com](mailto:dwilliams@mickleandbass.com)  
Post Office Box 5639  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250  
(803) 929-0029  
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING THE CLAIMANT DID NOT SUSTAIN AN INJURY OR AGGRAVATION OF A PREEXISTING CONDITION TO HER LUNGS OR RESPIRATORY SYSTEM WHERE THE FINDING IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD?
2. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING THE CLAIMANT DID NOT SUSTAIN A LOSS OF WAGE EARNING CAPACITY AS A RESULT OF THE ACCIDENT WHERE THE FINDING IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD?
3. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING THE CLAIMANT HAS NO PERMANENT IMPAIRMENT OR LOSS OF USE OF HER LUNGS OR RESPIRATORY SYSTEM WHERE THE FINDING IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mortesha Mouzon-Johnson ("the claimant") filed this workers' compensation claim on February 8, 2013, asserting an injury by accident arising out of and in the course and scope of employment on June 1, 2012, or, in the alternative, an occupational disease. The claimant contended she injured her lungs and respiratory system when she was exposed to chemicals at work. The self-insured employer Mead Westvaco ("the employer") denied the claim in its entirety. On August 27, 2014, a single commissioner heard the case and by order dated November 24, 2014, the single commissioner found the claimant sustained an injury by accident arising out of and in the course and scope of her employment and awarded medical benefits, temporary total disability benefits, and permanent disability benefits to her lungs. The employer appealed to the full commission. After a hearing, the Commission issued an order dated September 1, 2015 denying the claim. The claimant filed a notice of appeal to this court on September 29, 2015.

## FACTS

The claimant worked for the employer as a chemist for approximately thirteen years. (R. pg. 88, line 3) At the time of the hearing, she was forty years old and had a degree in biology with a minor in chemistry. (R. pg. 86, line 8; pg. 87 lines 6-7) In the first part of 2012, the claimant missed a period of time from work due to Bell's Palsy. (R. pg. 91, lines 10-12) The claimant returned to work on May 30, 2012 (R. pg. 92, lines 4-5). Because of some work restrictions related to the Bell's Palsy, the claimant was assigned a new chemical analysis to perform on June 1, 2012. (R. pg. 24, lines 2-19) The new analysis required the claimant had to mix several chemicals together—without a protective mask—in order to ultimately find the concentration of soap in a product produced by the employer. (R. pg. 92, line 20 – pg. 93, line 15). Upon performing the analysis that morning, the claimant developed pain in the right side of her face and noticed swelling in her face. She discussed the issue with her supervisor and was sent home, the fear being that she was experiencing a recurrence of Bell's Palsy. (R. pg. 93, line 17 – pg. 95, line 9). The claimant testified she experienced extreme lethargy (R. pg. 125 lines 3-8) and other people noticed she was wheezing. (R. pg. 131-132 lines 23-25, 1)

The claimant's supervisor testified that on June 1, 2012, the claimant approached her and asked if the supervisor thought the claimant's face looked swollen. The supervisor testified she told the claimant "[w]ell, your whole face looks swollen," and she explained that a few minutes later the claimant told the supervisor that her face was burning. (R. pg. 207, line 12 – pg. 208, line 8). Immediately thereafter, however, the supervisor testified that the claimant's face was not swollen on June 1, 2012. (R. pg. 208, lines 9-11).

Concerned she had a recurrence of Bell's Palsy, the claimant sought treatment with Dr. Bahadori, her neurologist, on June 4, 2012. (R. p. 733) Dr. Bahadori explained that the issue

was not Bell's Palsy-related, and referred her to her allergist, Dr. Davidson. (R. pg. 95, line 10 – pg. 97, line 1)

The claimant, after her doctor's appointment on the Monday following the accident, told her supervisor that she had had a chemical reaction to toluene on June 1, 2012. (R. pg. 210, lines 4-11). Following that conversation, the supervisor indicated that the employer instructed the claimant not to come back to work due to her accident and resulting condition. (R. pg. 210, lines 11-20). Later, the claimant did return to work briefly after being cleared but on restrictions from handling chemicals. (R. 126, lines 17-19) She continued to have reactions while working in the lab even though she was not directly working with the chemicals. (R. pg. 127, lines 20-25)

The claimant had preexisting asthma and allergies. Dr. Spandorfer was her pulmonologist, and Dr. Davidson was her allergist. Dr. Davidson saw the claimant on June 7, 2012, less than a week after the date of exposure in this claim. (R. p. 756) The claimant reported to Dr. Davidson that she had a reaction—including swelling and sharp pain on the left side of her face—as a result of her exposure to chemicals including toluene, methanol, petroleum ether, and acetone, while at work on June 1, 2012. (R. p. 756) Dr. Davidson diagnosed the claimant with allergic rhinitis and asthma, and ordered a PCT scan of the sinuses, which came back normal. (R. p. 757)

At a follow-up appointment on July 3, 2012, the claimant explained that she had experienced two more reactions while working and that her employer ordered her to avoid all solvents and to stay out of work. (R. p. 760) Dr. Davidson noted “low spirometry off controller medication,” and restarted Advair and continued Singulair (both asthma medications) for the claimant's symptoms. (R. p. 761) On July 24, 2012, Dr. Davidson again noted the claimant was out of work due to her condition, adding that he could not be sure which chemicals were causing

her recurrent symptoms. (R. p. 763) The claimant continued to follow up with Dr. Davidson periodically, and noted some improvement as she continued taking her medication and, because she was out of work on disability, avoided the worksite and chemicals that had initially caused her condition. (R. p. 763)

The claimant's first visit to Dr. Spandorfer after her work-related accident was on August 23, 2012. (R. p. 722) On that date, the doctor noted that "[t]he patient is now not able to return to work," because she had "developed progressive difficulties of shortness of breath with facial swelling, wheezing and chest tightness and cough after exposure to chemicals at her work site." Dr. Spandorfer explained in his notes that the claimant frequently deals with chemicals in her job as a chemist over the previous 15 years, and that chemical odors are "disseminated through her worksite." The claimant reported requiring rescue bronchodilator therapy due to her symptoms. Dr. Spandorfer diagnosed his patient with "occupationally induced or occupationally worsened asthma" and prescribed Singulair, ProAir HFA Aerosol Solution, and Advair for the Claimant's associated symptoms. (R. pp. 722-723)

On February 5, 2013, Dr. Spandorfer evaluated the claimant's lung function and noted "the patient has had significant improvement in her symptoms since she has been removed from her work environment." Following an examination, the doctor diagnosed the claimant with asthma, pulmonary fibrosis, and "other diseases of [the] lung." Based on these diagnoses, Dr. Spandorfer recommended a spirometry test in order to evaluate the effectiveness of the claimant's treatment. (R. pp. 708-710)

At her next appointment on August 22, 2013, the claimant visited the doctor for "evaluation of her reactive airway dysfunction syndrome/occupationally induced or worsened asthma." The spirometry results were "abnormal," revealing a "mixed disorder with moderate

limitation.” In line with those results, the claimant reported an increasing need for “frequent rescue bronchodilator therapy,” as much as five times per week. She also noted for the doctor that she had recently begun experiencing nighttime symptoms that also required the use of rescue therapy. The claimant explained that the triggers for her asthma included “exposure to chemicals, dusts, fumes including bleach and perfumes, smoke as well as increasing temperature/heat.” She added that she did not believe she could return to work due to her regular exposure to chemicals at her worksite. Dr. Spandorfer agreed, diagnosing the claimant with occupationally-induced or –worsened asthma and noting that the claimant “is not felt to be able to return to her primary worksite due to the development of occupationally induced asthma and the risk of deterioration in her chemical exposure/worksite.” For her asthma, the doctor prescribed the Claimant Singulair, Advair, and Ventolin. Finally, the doctor also noted his diagnosis of reactive airway disease, again stating “the patient has occupationally induced lung injury.” (R. pp. 718-720)

The claimant saw Dr. Spandorfer on April 8, 2014. At that appointment, the claimant explained that she had been stable since being removed from her known triggers, including her worksite. Nevertheless, she added, symptoms still arise when she is exposed to chemicals, perfumes, dust, and volatile agents including softens, requiring rescue bronchodilator therapy upwards of three times per week. Pursuant to his evaluation, Dr. Spandorfer once again diagnosed the claimant with occupationally-induced or –worsened asthma as well as reactive airway disease, which was brought on by her exposure to “[t]oluene and methanol/organic solvents.” Finally, the doctor also noted diagnoses of pulmonary fibrosis and other unclassified diseases of the lung. (R. pp. 727-729)

On May 10, 2013, the employer sent the claimant for an independent medical evaluation

by Dr. Herndon, a pulmonologist selected by the employer. The employer furnished a complete set of medical records to Dr. Herndon, including the records of Drs. Bahadori, Davidson, and Spandorfer. Following his evaluation of the claimant, Dr. Herndon diagnosed her with shortness of breath attributable to restrictive lung disease, as well as asthma, noting:

I suspect that she did likely suffer from occupational asthma which has improved since being away from the exposures at work. She appears to have had significant allergic reactions to some exposure at her workplace. **I agree with her physicians, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, she should no longer be exposed to these chemicals and should be restricted from working where the exposures occurred.**

Dr. Herndon went on to add: “[t]he chemicals that she was exposed to (sic) could have certainly exacerbated her asthma at the time of the exposure.” (R. pp. 770-780)

On September 12, 2013, Dr. Spandorfer completed a questionnaire regarding his treatment of the claimant as well as her current condition. The doctor, being board certified in pulmonary and critical care medicine, affirmed his diagnosis of the claimant’s occupationally induced or worsened asthma, further confirming that it is causally related to the claimant’s work exposure on June 1, 2012. For her condition, Dr. Spandorfer noted that the claimant would need future medical treatment in the form of medications, office visits, breathing treatments, and inhalers. In a handwritten note, the doctor added:

may require additional treatments/medications due to drug-induced side effects from [the] use of medications in the treatment of her occupationally induced or worsened asthma, including but not limited to steroid or beta agonist related side effects; glaucoma, cataracts . . . osteoporosis, GERD, hypertension, diabetes/hyperglycemia, [weight] gain with sleep apnea palpitations, [etc.].

Dr. Spandorfer noted that the claimant had reached maximum medical improvement and gave her an impairment rating of 35% to her lungs. (R. pp. 725-726)

On June 19, 2013, Dr. Davidson also completed a questionnaire regard the claimant's condition and the treatment he had provided her over the preceding year. Dr. Davidson admitted in the questionnaire that he had completed a disability form for the claimant, which he found "convoluted and confusing," but that it was "not [his] intention to state that [claimant's] condition was not related to her work." The doctor confirmed that his notes from his initial evaluation of the claimant indicated an allergic reaction to chemicals in the workplace. Dr. Davidson added, "[o]ther possible diagnoses needed to be ruled out and tests were ordered to do so; when these were normal, my diagnosis was angioedema related to solvent exposure in the workplace." Further, he stated his opinion that the claimant's reaction was causally related to her exposure to chemicals at work. The doctor also indicated that, after reviewing the reports of Dr. Spandorfer and Dr. Steve E. Herndon, he agreed with the diagnosis of the claimant's condition as occupationally-induced asthma. Moreover, Dr. Davidson noted his agreement with Dr. Herndon that the claimant "should no longer be exposed to these chemicals and should be restricted from working in [her] job." (R. pp. 772-773)

In a second questionnaire dated August 23, 2013, Dr. Davidson answered questions specifically regarding future medical treatment for the claimant's current condition. Dr. Davidson again confirmed his diagnosis of the claimant as having occupationally-induced or – worsened asthma, which is causally related to her work exposure on June 1, 2012. As a result of her occupationally-induced or –worsened asthma, the claimant will need, medications, office visits, breathing treatments, and inhalers. The doctor also noted the claimant had reached maximum medical improvement and gave her a 25% impairment rating to the lungs. (R. pp. 774-775)

Since the accident, the claimant has been forced to use her rescue inhaler more

frequently, and testified that she is sensitive to new things such as perfumes, aerosol cleaners, and even markers. (R. pg. 107, lines 7-18). She has a greatly reduced energy level due to her decreased lung function. (R. pg. 107, lines 19-25). Due to her work-related accident, she is now taking several medications, including Xyzal, Singulair, Advair, and an Albuterol inhaler. (R. pg. 108, lines 1-9). The claimant also described a respiratory episode she had in which a marker being used in the same room as her at her daughters' school left her unable to breathe. (R. pg. 108, line 10 – pg. 109, line 20). She also explained that she has not worked since the accident because the pulmonologist instructed that she can no longer work around chemicals due to her condition, despite her schooling and training as a chemist and a biologist. (R. pg. 110, line 12 – pg. 111, line 10). The claimant conceded that she did have asthma prior to this accident, but explained that she worked at the employer for nearly a decade after childbirth with no asthma-related problems until June 1, 2012. (R. pg. 112, lines 1-14).

The claimant was receiving long-term disability benefits for chemical sensitivity, which were set to be terminated on September 4, 2014. (R. pg. 112, lines 15-24). She testified further that she is receiving long-term disability benefits due to the issues which are a result of her present accident. (R. pg. 114, lines 4-10). She also testified that she took asthma medications seasonally, including Advair, prior to the June 1, 2012 accident, but that since the accident she has to take the medication daily. (R. pg. 112, lines 2-20).

The claimant testified regarding a letter she received from her long-term disability provider, ING. In pertinent part, the letter stated that the claimant was not receiving disability benefits due to Bell's palsy or left arm weakness, but rather due to "symptoms associated with sensitivity to chemicals/solvents in the work place." (R. pg. 180, line 16 – pg. 183, line 17). Finally, the claimant noted that, although she had not received any termination notice from the

employer, she had been informed that she could not return to working in the laboratory because of the chemicals and solvents therein. (R. pg. 191, line 11 – pg. 192, line 3). The claimant testified she appealed her denial of long-term disability benefits by noting, in part, that she suffers from an allergic reaction to chemicals, as well as facial swelling. (R. pg. 194, line 16 – pg. 197, line 17).

All three medical experts were deposed, two of them more than once. Dr. Spandorfer was first deposed on July 25, 2013. Dr. Spandorfer is board certified in internal medicine, pulmonary diseases, critical care, and sleep medicine. (R. pg. 280 lines 2-5). The claimant has been a patient of Dr. Spandorfer since August 17, 2005 when she first saw him for complaints of shortness of breath following childbirth and development of HELLP Syndrome. (R. pg. 280 lines 11-17). At that time, Dr. Spandorfer diagnosed her with mixed respiratory disorder characterized by dyspnea with restriction in airflow limitation, obstructive sleep apnea, asthma, and pulmonary hypertension. (R. pg. 283 lines 18-25). On June 19, 2008, the claimant's diagnosis changed to include asthma, restrictive lung disease, and allergic rhinitis. (R. pg. 8 lines 14-22).

In February 2011, the claimant told Dr. Spandorfer that she had an asthma attack, was having breathing problems at work, and she felt that general work related exposure was driving some of her respiratory problems. (R. pg. 288 lines 1-16). In February 2012, Dr. Spandorfer diagnosed the claimant with asthma, pulmonary fibrosis, hypersomnia with sleep apnea, a pulmonary nodule, and headache. (R. pg. 292 lines 13-17). By August 23, 2012, Dr. Spandorfer made a note that the claimant was not able to return to work due to progressive difficulties of shortness of breath with facial swelling, wheezing, chest tightness, and cough after exposure to chemicals such as toluene and methanol at work. (R. pg. 290 lines 21-25; R. pg. 289 lines 1-5).

Dr. Spandorfer noted her O2 saturation level at 98%, which is normal for an adult her age who was experiencing asthma symptoms. (R. pg. 295, lines 1-12). The claimant self-reported her exposure, and did not provide Dr. Spandorfer with any other information in regards to the amount of exposure she was subjected to. (R. pg. 290 lines 7-19). While the claimant is alleging an injury on the date of June 1, 2012, she did not report this specific date to Dr. Spandorfer, however she did report she's been a chemist for fifteen years and diagnosed with asthma for the past eight years. (R. pg. 293 lines 14-26; pg. 294 lines 1-6).

Dr. Spandorfer performed a spirometry test February 23, 2012. (R. pg. 296 lines 9-11). He reported the claimant blew out only 1.56 liters of air, which was 50 percent predicted. (R. pg. 397 lines 6-13). Dr. Spandorfer stated that 80 percent of air is expected to leave the lungs, no matter what size the lungs are, and the claimant's ratio was 87 percent, indicating a supernormal isovolemic flow. (R. pg. 297 lines 14-19). This means that more gas came out quicker, which is an indication that there is an increase of elastic recoil. (R. pg. 297 lines 18-21). On August 23, 2012, Dr. Spandorfer provided the opinion that the claimant had occupationally induced asthma based on her symptomology. (R. pg. 302 lines 20-25). Dr. Spandorfer testified the agents she was exposed to agents that are known to cause respiratory illnesses, and since her restriction appeared to precede her visits to Dr. Spandorfer in 2005, it is apparent she had a history of asthma that was worsened. (R. pg. 303 lines 10-15). Even though the claimant's lung function improved from February 2012- August 2012, her lung function was still very low. (R. pg. 304 lines 7-13). Dr. Spandorfer states that despite the fact her asthma improved during this time period, it was directly related to the fact she removed herself from her work environment after the alleged June 1, 2012 accident. (R. pg. 305 lines 9-12).

Dr. Spandorfer testified that if the claimant continued to have symptoms of asthma in her

daily life outside of work, which would not necessarily be an indication that the asthma was not work related. (R. pg. 305 lines 13-17). Oftentimes individuals with asthma continue to have sensitivity to other airborne related or environmental exposures. (pg. 305 lines 17-25). Dr. Spandorfer admits that while asthma is a condition that occurs during the general population regardless of where one works, the fact that the claimant not being at work improved her airflow indicates that her work is a finding expected for somebody who had an occupationally related asthma. (R. pg. 306 lines 20-25). Dr. Spandorfer testified his opinion is based on the subjective self-reporting of the claimant. (R. pg. 308 lines 13-16).

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