RECEIVED
AUG 11 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Susan S. Barden, Commissioner
Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr. Commissioner

Appellate Case No. 2015-002041

Mortasha Mouzon-Johnson, Claimant,

Appellant,

v.

MeadWestvaco, Self-Insured Employer,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Kirsten Leslie Barr
Trask & Howell, LLC
P.O. Box 2167
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465
843-881-1027
kbarr@trask-howell.com
S.C. Bar #0015525
ATTORNEYS FOR THE RESPONDENT

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

"an injury arises, 'in the course of employment' within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act, when it occurs within the period of employment, at a place where the employee reasonably may be in the performance of his duties, and while he is fulfilling these duties or engaged in doing something incidental thereto."

Johnson v. Merchants Fertilizer Co., 198 S.C. 373, 17 S.E. (2d) 695 (1941). The same simply cannot be said of Johnson's alleged injuries and; therefore, the Workers' Compensation Commission's conclusion that her claim did not meet requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160, based upon substantial evidence in the record, should be affirmed.

II. The Workers' Compensation Commission properly concluded that Johnson is not entitled to any Workers' Compensation benefits pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 because she failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the alleged accident on June 1, 2012 aggravated her known pre-existing Asthma or Restrictive Lung Disease.

Although the Commission made a formal conclusion of law with respect to the application of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 to the facts of this case, Johnson failed to appeal this conclusion or make any legal argument with respect to the application of that statute by the Commission. Therefore, this unappealed ruling is the law of the case. *See In re Morrison*, 321 S.C. 370 n. 2, 468 S.E.2d 651 n. 2 (1996) (noting that an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal). *See also, Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 327 n.1, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 n.1 (2012) (finding an issue abandoned when the argument in appellant's brief

was "purely a recitation of facts, devoid of any citation to legal authority," resulting in a summary conclusion).

Furthermore, the Commission's ruling with regard to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 is supported by both the applicable law and substantial evidence in the record. Johnson appears to argue that there are no conflicts in the evidence regarding the cause of her respiratory issues and that; therefore, the Workers' Compensation Commission should be reversed. However, this argument is untenable. In fact, not only are there conflicts within the medical evidence regarding the aggravation issue, the medical evidence is also in conflict with the other evidence in the record, including the Claimant's own testimony, as explained by the Commission in its finding that the alleged events of June 1, 2012 did not cause or aggravate Johnson's pre-existing Asthma or Restrictive Lung Disease. Of course, where "the medical evidence conflicts, the findings of fact of the Commission are conclusive." Pollack v. S. Wine & Spirits of Am., 405 S.C. 9, 15-16, 747 S.E.2d 430, 433-34 (2013). The mere "possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by substantial evidence." Hall v. United Rentals, Inc., 371 S.C. 69, 80, 636 S.E.2d 876, 882 (Ct. App. 2006). *See also*, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5) (Supp. 2013) (providing under the Administrative Procedures Act, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact).

Among the conflicting evidence in the record is Johnson's own admission that she told the first doctor she saw following the alleged accident of June 1,

2012 --Dr. Bahadori (her neurologist)-- that she had “no shortness of breath” associated with the alleged incident at work on June 1, 2012. (R. p.135, lines 9–20; pp.733--734). Dr. Bahadori’s July 5, 2012 office note also states that “[s]he says she had no shortness of breath” at work on June 1, 2012. (R. p.735). Plainly, the Claimant’s admission and Dr. Bahadori’s records constitute substantial evidence in support of the Commission’s finding that Johnson did not suffer any injury to her lungs or experience a worsening of her pre-existing asthma on June 1, 2012. Indeed, this evidence certainly conflicts with any opinion, medical or otherwise, that Johnson’s lung or respiratory problems suddenly worsened as a result of an alleged accident on June 1, 2012.

Similarly, Johnson admits she did not report any problems with her lungs when she saw her allergist, Dr. Davidson on June 7, 2012 – less than a week after the alleged work accident. (R. p.136, lines 15-22).² Johnson admits that she was not having any lung or respiratory problem on June 7, 2012 when she saw Dr. Davidson for a regularly-scheduled appointment. (R. p.136, line 20 – p. 69, line 12; p.142, lines 2-4). She agreed that Dr. Davidson examined her on June 7, 2012 and found her lungs to be “clear to auscultation bilaterally.” (Claimant’s APA p. 105). Dr. Davidson did not make any changes in her medications and assessed her asthma to be “[s]table.” (R. p.757; p.139, lines 19--22). This evidence is also in conflict with any evidence supporting Johnson’s claim that an alleged accident on June 1, 2012 caused or aggravated any lung or respiratory problem.

² Johnson was also seen in the MeadWestvaco Medical Department on June 7, 2012, at which time she denied having shortness of breath and denied wheezing. (R. p.984).

Even a month after her alleged accident at work, Johnson still had not experienced any problem breathing or any change in her pre-existing Asthma. According to Dr. Davidson's July 3, 2012 office note,

“Patient stopped taking her Advair regularly with the warmer weather, she states she only needs to take it irregularly in the winter and **she denies any respiratory symptoms.**” (R. p.760, emphasis added).

Johnson admitted at the hearing that she was not having any respiratory symptoms in the month following the alleged work accident and she did not even need to take her previously prescribed asthma medication, Advair, during that time.³ (R. p.141, line 12—p.74). She further testified “I did not have any symptoms of respiratory distress” and was only seeing Dr. Davidson for a regularly-scheduled appointment in July 2012. (R. p.142, lines 1-4). This evidence is certainly inconsistent with Johnson's argument (and the opinions of her personal physicians rendered in the course of litigation) that her asthma was suddenly worsened as a result of an alleged work accident on June 1, 2012.

Similarly, the opinions of Dr. Herndon support the Commission's finding that Johnson's asthma was not worsened by any alleged accident at work on June 1, 2012. Herndon, a pulmonologist, evaluated Johnson on May 10, 2013 and

³ Note that the history described herein and reflected in the medical records and Johnson's sworn testimony is inconsistent with the history Johnson later gave Dr. Spandorfer, upon which he relied in addressing the issue of causation. (R. p.342, line 18 – p.343, line 25).

concluded that her alleged exposure to chemicals at work “*could have* certainly exacerbated her asthma at the time of exposure, however, they are, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, much less likely to cause permanent lung impairment (above and beyond her preexisting disease).” (R. p. 780) (emphasis added). Dr. Herndon later qualified that opinion in his deposition, at which time he testified that he could not state with any certainty that the Claimant even had Asthma, considering her repeatedly normal physical exams and her repeated pulmonary function studies that showed no evidence of any obstructive lung disease.⁴

Dr. Herndon was also asked,

“Q. Is there any objective evidence ... that her breathing problems are caused or aggravated by any alleged exposure at work?

A. There is no objective evidence.”

(R. p.587, lines 19–23). Dr. Herndon further testified:

“Q. ...this pulmonary function study that you did on May 10, 2013...does it show or provide any objective evidence that she has occupational asthma?

⁴ Note that even Dr. Spandorfer was forced to admit that his diagnosis of asthma was based on nothing more than the Claimant’s “subjective complaints, which haven’t been verified and which are inconsistent with the reports she gave other doctors prior to coming to see [him] on August 23rd of 2012.” (R. p.352, lines 1–6).

A. No. ...It shows restrictive lung disease.

Q. Okay. And can you state to a reasonable degree of medical certainty whether or not her restrictive lung disease was caused by any alleged exposure at work?

A. No, I can't – I can't with any reasonable medical certainty.”

(R. p.601, line 21 – p.602, line 10). Dr. Herndon was also asked,

“Q.....Can you state to a reasonable degree of medical certainty whether or not Ms. Johnson has any permanent impairment of her lungs as a result of any alleged exposure at work?

A. I think it is unlikely.”

(R. p. 603, lines 17–21). Lastly, Dr. Herndon testified that he would not defer to Johnson's other physicians. In fact, Dr. Herndon noted that the pulmonary function testing done by Dr. Spandorfer did not even meet the validity criteria established by the American Thoracic Society and his tests were not valid. (R. p.635, line 22 –p.636, line 24). Therefore, Johnson's argument that “all of the medical experts” support her claim that her pre-existing Asthma was aggravated by an accident on June 1, 2012 is simply untenable. At best, the evidence is conflicting and therefore; the Commission's findings should be affirmed.

Even Dr. Spandorfer, Johnson's longstanding personal physician, admitted that Johnson's pulmonary function testing was “[b]etter” in August 2012 than it had been in February 2012, four (4) months prior to the alleged accident. (R.

p.349, lines 13–18). Dr. Spandorfer admitted that Johnson’s pulmonary function had “improved” between February 2012 and August 2012. (R. p.350, lines 2–6; p.388, lines 2–7). Johnson’s pulmonary function improved even further by the last time she was seen in April 2014. (R. p.361, lines 7–12). Dr. Spandorfer admitted that he did not think Johnson was objectively worse since June 1, 2012. (R. p.388, lines 13–15).

As a result, Dr. Spandorfer was asked

“Q. ...So can you state to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that her impairment has changed or worsened since February 23rd of 2012?

A. I did not do a impairment rating on February 12, 20- -- I wasn’t – I didn’t do one. So I can’t state that it’s changed.”

(R. p.374, lines 7–12).

Therefore, not only do Dr. Spandorfer’s opinions conflict with the other evidence in the record, but they are internally inconsistent as well.⁵ As a result, the Commission was free judge the credibility of such medical opinions and

⁵ Johnson argues that the opinions of Dr. Spandorfer and Dr. Davidson are somehow conclusive; however, because they conflict with other competent evidence in the record, the Commission was free to discount them, as explained in Tiller v. National Healthcare Center of Sumter, 334 S.C. 333, 513 S.E.2d 843 (1999) (holding that “the Commission is given discretion to weigh and consider all the evidence, both lay and expert, when deciding whether causation has been established ...medical testimony should not be held conclusive irrespective of other evidence.”) (internal citations omitted).

accord the weight the Commission felt appropriate in ultimately denying Johnson's claim under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35. "[W]hile there is evidence which could arguably have raised other inferences ... it is not the task of this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." Hoxit v. Michelin Tire Corp. 304 S.C. 461, 405 S.E.2d 407 (1991) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(g) (1986)). That is because "[w]here there is a conflict in the evidence, either of different witnesses or of the same witnesses, the findings of fact of the Commission as triers of fact are conclusive." Holcombe v. Dan River Mills, 286 S.C. 223, 333 S.E. (2d) 338 (Ct. App. 1985).

III. The Workers' Compensation Commission properly concluded that, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-10 and 42-9-20, Johnson's alleged loss of wage-earning capacity is not causally-related to any alleged accident or injury on June 1, 2012.

Like the Workers' Compensation Commission's other legal rulings, Johnson did not appeal the Commission's conclusion that her alleged loss of wage-earning capacity is not causally-related to any alleged accident or injury on June 1, 2012 pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-10 and 42-9-20. Johnson's brief makes no legal argument with regard to the Commission's application of §§ 42-9-10 and 42-9-20 to the facts of this case. As such, the Respondent

respectfully contends that the Commission's ruling on this issue is the law of the case. See Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009).

Furthermore, the Commission properly applied both § 42-9-10 and § 42-9-20 to the facts of this case, which required that Johnson prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that she had a total incapacity for work as a result of the alleged events of June 1, 2012. The Commission properly determined, based upon substantial evidence in the record, that Johnson did not meet this burden of proof and therefore, the Commission's conclusion in this regard should be affirmed.

Most notably, Johnson herself testified that the reason she stopped working in July 2012, was not because she had asthma or respiratory problems, but because her eyes were "swollen." (R. p. 124, lines 5-6). The doctors who endorsed Johnson's short and long term disability applications in 2012 indicated that it was non-work-related problems with left arm weakness, Bells Palsy, and facial swelling that rendered her unable to work. (R. pp.1042, 1117, 1293, 1335, and 1522). Even as of August 1, 2013 – more than a year after the alleged accident at work, Johnson mentioned no issues with her lungs or asthma in support of her Long Term Disability Claim, though she complained in detail about facial swelling and migraine headaches. (R. pp.1560–1562). At the hearing, Johnson admitted that she was not out of work due to asthma or shortness of breath. (R. p.145, lines 2–5). Instead, Johnson testified that she is out of work due to Bells Palsy, radiculopathy, migraine headaches, and facial swelling. (T. pp. 146-149). As a result of these personal health problems, not any

alleged work-injury, that Johnson was continuing to receive long term disability benefits at the time of the hearing.

It was upon this substantial evidence that the Commission found and concluded that Johnson's inability to earn wages since 2012 is not causally-related to any alleged accident on June 1, 2012, nor is it related to her pre-existing asthma. Clearly, Johnson had an incapacity to earn wages; however, this was true irrespective of any alleged accident on June 1, 2012. To suggest that Johnson would have been able to earn her regular wages, but for the alleged accident on June 1, 2012, would require pure, impermissible surmise and speculation. *See Bundrick v. Powell's Garage*, 248 S.C. 496, 151 S.E. (2d) 437 at 441 (1966) (holding that award may not rest on surmise, conjecture or speculation; it must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it.”).

IV. The Workers' Compensation Commission properly concluded that Johnson did not sustain any permanent loss of use of any body member or system as a result of the alleged accident on June 1, 2012 pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 and S.C. Code Reg. 67-1101.

Johnson's brief to the Court of Appeals makes no argument regarding the application of the legal requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 or S.C. Code

Reg. 67-1101. Therefore Johnson did not appeal or otherwise preserve any argument regarding the Commission's ruling that

“Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 and S.C. Code Reg. 67-1101, the Claimant did not sustain any permanent loss of use of any body member or system as a result of the alleged accident on June 1, 2012, based upon the greater weight of the evidence in the record.”

Because an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case, the Respondent respectfully requests that this conclusion be affirmed. *See Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 338 S.C. 171, 175, 525 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2000) (an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance); *Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 255 S.C. 159, 177 S.E.2d 544 (1970) (same).

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